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Foreword

This is the story of a General Baptist Church. In their
Confession of 1660 the General Baptists maintained (in opposition
to the Particular Baptists), “that God is not willing that any should
perish, but that all should come to repentance and the knowledge of
the truth, that they might be saved. For which end Christ hath
commanded that the Gospel should be preached to every
creature,”

Dr. John Clifford, the greatest of modern General Baptists, had
many links with Tring and its Ministers,  There was a General
Baptist Fund for Assisting Ministers and Students founded in 1726,
and on the Distribution List, 1860, are the names :—" Sexton, William
... Tring. Student, for Books, Third Time — Clifford, John . . .
Londcen.”

Thirty years later this student, who so wisely used his books,
openzad the new building at Tring, on Good Friday.

May this excellent bcok—a labour of love by the Church Secretary,
Mr. Trevor Wright—help to answer James Martineau's prayer :—
“ Awaken us, O Lord, to feel how great a thing it is to live at the
end of so many ages, heirs to the thoughts of the wise, the labours
of the good, the prayers of the devout.”

E. J. TONGUE.
March, 1950.
Stapleton, Bristol.

Our Baptist Witness for 200 years

Introduction

To delve into the early history of the Church at High Street
is no easy matter. The earliest recorded minutes are dated 1843.
Earlier than this the Church hides its age and its history from
interested eyes. Fortunately there are other avenues of approach and

something at least can be known of the early years of the life of
the Church.

The Church was originally formed about 1750 by James Young,
Joseph Sutton, Robert Harding, Thomas Carter and Thomas Coles,
and the house of James Young was registered as a place of worship.
It was not until 1751 that the first actua! chapel was built at Frogmore
End, now known by its more familiar title of Frogmore Street.l

1750. It was the time of the great Revival under the Wesleys
and Whitefield and the Countess of Huntingdon, but it was a long
time before the full fruits were gathered in. England was slowly
settling down to business and real progress, progress in the social and
political worlds, and not least in the sphere of the religious life and
thought of the nation.

These were the days which saw the birth of the General Baptist
Church in Tring—days of growth and of expansion, days of the
development of the Nonconformist conscience, which was to play
such a vital part in the later growth of the life of the nation. The
inflexible intolerance out of which our Baptist witness was born, was
giving way in many places to a more reasonable outlook, as our
spiritual forefathers claimed freedom of conscience for all. Toleration
was in the air. This, without a doubt, was a contributing factor to
the breakaway of a few from the rigid Calvinism of the parent
Church at New Mill.

1 Urwick’s “ Memorials of Nonconformity in Herts,” pp. 464-5.



The Church at Frogmore End

The forming of the Church at Frogmore End made it the
sixth Baptist Church in the County. Churches had been formed at
Berkhamsted, St. Albans, Hitchin, New Mill, and Marlowes, and the
Church at Frogmore End in 1750. This Church was one of the
first in the County to break away from the Particular Baptists and
form a General Baptist Church. This move, however, must not be
confused with laxness of Church government, as the available records
show a church alive to its spiritual responsibilities and quick to act
in matters of discipline where such action was necessary. An entry
in a contemporary diary tells us that “the General Baptist Chapel,
Tring, left New Mill when liberty of conscience was allowed.”

The chapel first erected in Frogmore Street was a small place
holding about 200 persons.  The money to defray the expense of
building was collected by Pastor Young of Chesham, and his assistant,
Mr. Cock, who visited the Baptist Churches in the neighbourhood to
collect what they could towards the cost of erection. At the time,
it was the only centre for Nonconformist worship in Tring, excepting
the Quaker meeting place at the top end of Akeman Street. No
mention is made of it in the annals of the denomination until 1798.
An interesting sidelight, however, is a minute found in the minute
book of New Mill where we read under the date November 26th,
1786: “It was enquired whether we should give liberty to the
General Baptists when they bury their dead, to preach in our pulpit.
Seven of the members voted for it and twenty-six against.”

A short descrintion of the chapel has been discovered which
describes it as “one of the queerest, stuffiest, ugliest little chapels you
can conceive of. It has a graveyard in front which the road (Frog-
more Street) turns to avoid.” Ventilation was so bad that it was not
unusual for the tallow candles to go out, through lack of air, during
a crowded service with doors and windows shut on a winter’s night.

The First Hundred Years

In spite of such hardships and discomforts as those mentioned
above the Church flourished until 1798, when Thomas Coughtry came
to preach from Aylesbury. Preacliing acceptably at first, he suddenly
changed his views and began preaching the doctrines of Hyper-
Calvinism which so displeased most of his hearers that they left the
chapel. These folk then met in a barn in Church Lane, and in less
than a year Coughtry practically emptied the chapel. His day was
soon over, however, and we can imagine the sigh of relief when he

went away.
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